1987

Moon Lake Electric Association, Inc., v.
Ultrasystems Western Constructrs, Inc., and
Industrial Indemnity Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this case pursuant to Rule 4(a) and (b), Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals.

NATURE OF PROCEEDING BELOW

This is an appeal from a final order in a civil case in the Seventh Judicial District Court in which the Court granted Summary Judgment in favor of the Defendants/Respondents.

STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Appellant believes the following rules are applicable to this case: Rules 56, 59, 61, URCP. However, Appellant is not arguing for a new or different interpretation of these rules.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

POINT I. WAS SUMMARY JUDGMENT PROPER?

A. WERE THERE CONTESTED ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT?

B. WAS MOON LAKE UNDER A DUTY TO PROVIDE AFFIDAVITS?

C. WAS ULTRASYSTEMS ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW?

POINT II. WAS MOON LAKE'S ACCEPTANCE OF ULTRASYSTEMS' BID CONDITIONAL? WAS THERE A CONDITION PRECEDENT TO MOON LAKE'S ACCEPTANCE OF ULTRASYSTEMS' BID?

POINT III. DID MOON LAKE INCUR DAMAGES?

POINT IV. SHOULD THE DISTRICT COURT HAVE GRANTED MOON LAKE'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL OR TO SET ASIDE THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT?

STATEMENT OF CASE

Plaintiff/Appellant Moon Lake, (hereafter "Moon Lake") brought suit against Defendants/Respondents Ultrasystems Western Constructors, Inc. (hereafter "Ultrasystems"), and Industrial Indemnity Company (hereafter "Industrial Indemnity"), seeking forfeiture of a bid bond written by Industrial Indemnity. Ultrasystems obtained bid specifications and was qualified by experience to bid a project being advertised by Moon Lake. After being determined to be the low bidder and being awarded the bid, Ultrasystems determined it could not perform in accordance with the bid it submitted to Moon Lake for the construction of an electrical substation.

Discovery, mainly in the form of depositions, was conducted. Then Ultrasystems moved for Summary Judgment. Industrial

Indemnity joined in the Ultrasystems' Motion. Moon Lake opposed their Motion, and also moved for Summary Judgment. After memorandums were submitted, Judge Richard C. Davidson granted Ultrasystems' and Industrial Indemnity's Motions for Summary Judgment. Moon Lake's Motion for Summary Judgment was denied on January 30, 1987. The Summary Judgment was granted against Moon Lake on the proposition that Moon Lake had failed to file opposing affidavits.

On February 7, 1987, Moon Lake made a Motion for New Trial or To Set Aside Summary Judgment. Judge Dennis L. Draney, who replaced Judge Richard C. Davidson as District Judge on February 1, 1987, denied Moon Lake's Motion on March 10, 1987.

FACTS

1. Ultrasystems is a construction company involved in various construction projects throughout the United States. (See Ultrasystems Memorandum, No. 1, p. 340.)

2. Moon Lake is a rural electric co-operative operating in Eastern Utah and Western Colorado.

3. In August, 1985, Moon Lake proposed to construct a substation near Rangely, Colorado, identified as the Rooks California Substation. Construction was to be done in three (3) phases. (See Hunt Deposition, pp. 3-4.)

4. Ultrasystems was acting as a contractor on a previous

phase of the Rooks California Substation that Moon Lake had advertised in the same manner as the phase in question. (See Winder Affidavit, para. 13, Record p. 452.)

5. Whenever REA funds are involved in a Moon Lake project, the REA Administrator must approve all contracts, bids, etc., involved. (See Winder Affidavit, para. 6, Record p. 450.)

6. There were no REA funds involved in the construction of the Rooks California Substation. (See Winder Affidavit, para. 6, Record, p. 450.)

7. Moon Lake advertised and solicited bids for the construction of the substation superstructure and above ground facilities. (Hunt Deposition, p. 6.)

8. In the solicitation to bid, each bidder was required to submit a bid bond with the bid. (See Record, p. 364.)

9. At Ultrasystems' request, a complete set of bid documents was provided to Ultrasystems, including blueprints and materials list. (See Hunt Deposition, pp. 11, 37; Armstead Affidavit, Record pp. 355-358.)

10. Ultrasystems submitted a bid for the advertised work on the Rooks California Substation. This bid was prepared by Richard Armstead and was accompanied with a bid bond. (See Armstead Affidavit, Record pp. 355-359.)

11. As Ultrasystems agent, Armstead read and interpreted

the documents provided by Moon Lake regarding how the conductors, bus bars and terminals were to be connected. (See Armstead Affidavit, Record pp. 355-359.)

12. Ultrasystems submitted the low bid. (See Hunt Deposition, pp. 18-19.)

13. Ultrasystems was informed by Moon Lake that its bid was comparatively very low in certain areas, and had Ultrasystems verify its bid. (See Hunt Deposition, pp. 24-24.)

14. At Moon Lake's request, Ultrasystems did verify its bid to Moon Lake. (See Record, p. 429.)

15. Moon Lake accepted Ultrasystems bid on September 18, 1985. (See Record, p. 430.)

16. Ultrasystems subsequently reviewed the documents it had been initially provided by Moon Lake and determined that Armstead had misunderstood, or ignored, part of the information concerning the connection of conductors, bus bars and terminals, and therefore, that Ultrasystems' bid was \$75,000.00 lower than it should have been. (See Armstead Affidavit, Record, pp. 355-358.)

17. On September 25, 1985, at a meeting with Ultrasystems, Moon Lake delivered its "formal" acceptance to Ultrasystems. On the same date, and after receiving Moon Lake's acceptance, Ultrasystems delivered a letter stating that it had made a mistake in its bid. (See Armstead Affidavit, Record, pp. 355-

358; Hunt Deposition, pp. 27-28; and Record, pp. 430 and 431.)

18. Moon Lake then awarded the bid to the next acceptable bidder and requested Ultrasystems to forfeit its bid bond. (Hunt Deposition, p.32.)

19. Ultrasystems refused to voluntarily surrender its bid bond. This action was brought to enforce Moon Lake's rights against the bid bond. (See Complaint, record p. 1-17.)

20. Discovery was conducted by Ultrasystems in the form of depositions of Moon Lake's employees. (See Record, pp. 514, 515.)

21. Ultrasystems moved for Summary Judgment on November 11, 1986. Industrial Indemnity joined in that Motion. (Record, pp. 336-338, 410-412.)

22. Moon Lake filed a response to Ultrasystems' Motion for Summary Judgment on December 10, 1986. At the same time, Moon Lake also moved for Summary Judgment. (Record, pp. 416-431.)

23. Ultrasystems responded to Moon Lake's Motion for Summary Judgment on December 17, 1986, and requested the court to Rule on existing Motions.¹ (See Affidavit of George E. Mangan,

¹ On this date, Moon Lake's General Counsel, George E. Mangan was in the Duchesne County Hospital having his left ankle fused, and was unable to fully supervise the filing of the response. Inasmuch as it appeared that the issues were primarily questions of law, no affidavits were thought to be necessary. However, there were several references in Moon Lake's response and Motion for Summary Judgment to the depositions which opposed

Record pp. 473-477.)

24. On or about January 13th or 14th, 1987, Moon Lake's counsel contacted the secretary to the District Judge to determine the status of the Motions and was assured that the court had not yet ruled in this matter. Judge Richard C. Davidson was not available since he was in Salt Lake City for a meeting of the new Appellate Court Judges. A request was made to have the secretary ask the court not to rule until the plaintiff's Affidavits were filed.²

25. In a Minute Entry dated January 15, 1987, District Judge Davidson granted Ultrasystems and Industrial Indemnity's Motion for Summary Judgment. (Record, pp. 468-470.)

26. On January 23, 1987, Moon Lake submitted Affidavits of Bruce LeGrand Hunt and Kenneth A. Winder in support of plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment. (See Record, 449-467.)

27. On January 30, 1987, Judge Davidson signed the Summary Judgment as prepared by Ultrasystems' counsel.³ (Record, pp.

Ultrasystems' allegations of what was fact. (See Record, pp. 473-477.)

² George E. Mangan was still recuperating from surgery and was trying to catch up with the backlog that had accumulated during hospitalization and bed rest. (See Affidavit of George E. Mangan, Record 473-477.)

³ Said Judgment also specified that it was being entered because Moon Lake had not filed opposing affidavits.

468-470.)

28. As of February 1, 1987, Richard C. Davidson ceased to function as a Seventh Judicial District Judge. Thereafter, Dennis L. Draney became the new District Judge.

29. On February 7, 1987, Moon Lake filed a Motion for either a New Trial or to Set Aside Summary Judgment, supported by a Memorandum of Points and Authorities. (See Record, p. 478-479.)

30. On or about February 12, 1987, Industrial Indemnity responded to Moon Lake's Motion for New Trial or to Set Aside Summary Judgment. Moon Lake filed a reply on February 18, 1987. (See Record, pp. 482-488.)

31. On February 18, 1987, Ultrasystems responded to Moon Lake's pending Motion. (See Record, p. 490.)

32. In a Ruling dated March 10, 1987, District Judge Dennis L. Draney denied Moon Lake's motions. The order was subsequently reduced to a writing on March 27, 1987. (See Record p. 504.)

ARGUMENT

POINT I. WAS SUMMARY JUDGMENT PROPER?

Summary Judgment is proper only if the pleadings, depositions, affidavits and admissions show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is

entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Geneva Pipe Co. v. S&H Ins. Co., Utah, 714 P.2d 648 (1986), Snyder & Merkley, Utah, 693 P.2d 64 (1984). The facts are to be liberally construed in favor of the party opposing the motion and that party is to be given the benefit of all inferences which might be reasonably drawn from the evidence. Payne v. Myers, 64 Utah Adv. Rep. 3, at 4, (8-18-87); Atlas Corp. v. The Clovis Nat'l Bank, Utah, 737 P.2d 225 (1987). The moving party must show that, as a matter of law, all reasonable possibility that the non-moving party could win if given a trial, is precluded. Judkins v. Toone, 27 Utah 2d 17, 492 P.2d 980 (1972), Reliable Furn. Co. v. Fidelity & Guar. Ins. Underwriters, 16 Utah 2d 211, 398 P.2d 685 (1965). Where the parties are not in complete conflict as to the facts, but the understanding, intention and consequences of those facts are vigorously disputed, summary judgment is not appropriate. Sandberg v. Klein, Utah, 576 P.2d 129 (1978).

On review, the appellate court is obliged to review the record in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion was granted. Geneva Pipe Co. v. S&H Ins. Co., Utah, 714 P.2d 648 (1986). The trial court must not weigh evidence or assess creditability and it must be obvious from the evidence before the court that the party opposing judgment can establish no right to recovery. Mountain States Telephone & Telegraph Co.

v. Atkin, Wright & Miles, Chartered, Utah, 681 P.2d 1258 (1984).

In an action involving a contract, summary judgment is proper only when the contract terms are complete, clear and unambiguous. If the evidence of the terms of an agreement is in conflict, the intent of the parties as to the terms is to be determined by a jury. Colonial Leasing Co. v. Larsen Bros. Constr. Co., Utah, 731 P.2d 483 (1986). Summary Judgment is appropriate only in the most clear cut negligence cases. Ingram v. Salt Lake City, Utah, 51 Utah Adv. Rep 6 (Jan. 1987) Williams v. Melby, Utah, 699 P.2d 723 (1986).

A. WERE THERE CONTESTED ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT?

In this case, Ultrasystems had its employee, Richard Armstead, prepare its bid. In his affidavit attached to Ultrasystems' Motion for Summary Judgment (Record pp. 355-358), Armstead alleges that he made a mistake in preparing Ultrasystems' bid. Armstead alleges that when he subsequently reviewed the bid information provided by Moon Lake, he found that he made an error in preparing the bid. (See Armstead Affidavit, paragraph 10, Record p. 357.) Moon Lake argued that this constituted an error of law or negligence on the part of Ultrasystems. Ultrasystems claimed that this was a mistake of fact made in good faith, and that equity should relieve against forfeiture of its bid bond. Either scenario presents a contested

issue of fact that ought to be resolved by the trier of fact.

B. WAS MOON LAKE UNDER A DUTY TO PROVIDE AFFIDAVITS?

Rule 56(c), URCP, provides as follows:

"When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this Rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegation or denials of his pleading, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this Rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against him."

The Utah Supreme Court has held that allegations or denials in the pleadings are not a sufficient basis for opposing summary judgment. See Hall v. Fitzgerald, Utah, 671 P.2d 224 (1983). In Franklin Financial v. New Empire Development Co., Utah, 659 P.2d 1040 at 1044 (1983), the Court stated that "when a party opposes a properly supported motion for summary judgment and fails to file any responsive affidavits or other evidentiary materials allowed by Rule 56(e), the trial court may properly conclude that there are no genuine issues of fact unless the movant's affidavit affirmatively discloses the existence of such an issue. Without such a showing, the Court need only decide whether, on the basis of the applicable law, the moving party is entitled to judgment." Also see Cowen & Co. v. Atlas Stock Transfer Co., Utah, 695 P.2d 109 (1984).

The judgment dated January 30, 1987, entered in this matter

(Record pp. 468-470), states as follows: "Defendant, Ultrasonics' Memorandum in support of its Motion for Summary Judgment has set forth undisputed facts, which facts are supported by the pleadings, the depositions of Kenneth A. Winder and Bruce L. Hunt and the affidavits. The plaintiff has not submitted any affidavits or other documents showing any dispute as it relates to those facts. (Emphasis added.) The Court therefore finds that the facts, as listed, are undisputed." The Court apparently followed the reasoning in the cases cited above and the argument made by Ultrasonics (Record, pp. 434-440), in this part of its decision.

In this case, discovery was conducted before Ultrasonics' Motion for Summary Judgment was made. The depositions of Kenneth A. Winder and Bruce L. Hunt were filed with the Court, relied upon by all parties and were part of the record. Numerous exhibits were also part of the record. There was evidence in the materials in the record, recognized by Rule 56(e) to support Moon Lake's position. The clearest indication of this evidence is Moon Lake's bid acceptance dated September 18, 1985 (Record p. 409).

Also, Moon Lake submitted affidavits of Winder and Hunt on January 23, 1987, before the Court signed the judgment in this case. Those affidavits clearly put at issue (a) whether REA

approval was necessary, and therefore, whether Moon Lake's acceptance was conditional, and Ultrasystems' knowledge of those facts (Winder Affidavit, paragraphs 6 & 13, Record p. 450 + 452.); (b) the date Moon Lake notified Ultrasystems that its bid had been accepted (Winder Affidavit, paragraph 15, Record p. 452.); and (c) whether Armstead's error in preparing Ultrasystem's bid constituted negligence.

If the facts as asserted by Moon Lake are true, then as a matter of law, the bid bond, by its term, would forfeit. (See bid bond, Record p. 405.) It was not the intent of the parties for the bond to be meaningless. Clearly, the bid bond provides that Ultrasystems shall enter into a contract for the completion of the Rooks California Substation. If not, then the bond would be paid to Moon Lake.

If Moon Lake accepted Ultrasystems' bid, and the bid bond is not forfeited, it was clearly a pointless exercise to require that a bid bond be submitted with the bid. It was not the intent of the parties for the bond to be meaningless. The only plausible way for Ultrasystems to escape being liable on its bid bond is if the Court finds that Armstead's negligence was excusable. Otherwise, there would be a question of fact and Summary Judgment would not lie.

C. WAS ULTRASYSTEMS ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW?

Both 52 ALR2d 792 and 2 ALR4th 991, distinguish between a

mistake of fact and a mistake of law or judgment. Under some circumstances, most courts allow a bidder to rescind his bid, and not forfeit his bond, if a mistake of fact has been made by the bidder. 2 ALR4th 991, defines a mistake of fact as "a state of mind or belief that is not in accord with the facts". 2 ALR4th at 995. Mathematical mistakes and clerical errors in transcribing figures, omitting figures or transposing figures are listed as mistakes of fact.

The Utah Supreme Court in Harlin vs. Campbell, 45 U.A.R. 4 (Oct. 28, 1986) pointed out that mistakes of law are not the equivalent to mistakes of facts when determining whether or not equitable relief should be granted. The court cited 27 Am. Jur. 2d, Equity § 29 and 36 (1966).

27 Am Jur. 2d, Equity, § 39 states that "(a)n equity court will not ordinarily grant relief from the consequences of writing or the effect thereof on a party's rights...the misconstruction of a contract as written is not a mistake of fact, but one of law." (citations omitted.)

Black's Legal Dictionary, 5th Edition, 1979, p. 903, defines mistake of law as "a mistaken opinion or interference, arising from an imperfect or incorrect exercise of judgment, upon (the) facts". (Citations omitted.) In 2 ALR4th 991, a

misinterpretation of the specifications upon which the bid was based is classified as a mistake of law.

Although a bid, once opened and declared, is considered in the nature of an irrevocable option or contract right of which the contracting authority cannot be deprived without its consent, rescission may still be had for a material and inadvertent mistake of fact.

In Boise Junior College District v. Mattefs Const. Co., 92 Idaho 757, 450 P.2d 604 (1969), the Idaho Supreme Court adopted the substantially same test as the Utah Supreme Court did in State v. Union Construction Co., 9 Utah 2d 107, 339 P.2d 421 (1959), i.e., that equity will relieve against forfeiture of a bid bond if the bidder acted in (a) good faith, (b) without negligence, or the mistake occurred regardless of the exercise of ordinary care, (c) if he was reasonably prompt in giving notice of the error in the bid to the other party, (d) if the bidder will suffer substantial detriment by forfeiture, and (e) if the other party's status has not been greatly changed, and relief from forfeiture will work no substantial hardship on him. (Citations omitted.) However, in Boise Junior College, the Idaho Court went on to point out that not all mistakes entitle a bidder to equitable recession. Equitable recession is allowed for "mechanical or clerical errors", i.e., those made tabulating or

transcribing figures, but denied in cases involving "errors of judgment", i.e., underestimating the cost of labor or materials. Also see Calamari, The Law of Contracts, 2d Ed. P. 308 (1977). Moon Lake urges that Ultrasystems' "mistake" was clearly an error of judgment, namely, assuming the "specs" did not require what they said they required.

The Court, in State v. Union, 339 P.2d 421, cited 52 ALR 2d 792 in support of its position. That article states as follows:

"The term 'negligence,' or its equivalent, in this connection generally means ordinary negligence, which will not necessarily bar granting equitable relief. Otherwise qualified, it generally means carelessness or lack of good faith in calculation which violates a positive duty in making up a bid, so as to amount to gross negligence, or willful negligence, when it takes on a sinister meaning and will furnish cause, if established, for holding a mistake of the offending bidder to be one not remediable in equity. It is thus distinguished from a clerical or inadvertent error in handling items of a bid, either through setting them down or transcription." p. 794, footnote 4.

In this case, even Ultrasystems, however reluctantly, admits that the blueprints and materials list supplied the facts necessary to draw the conclusion that Moon Lake required the superstructure's conductors, bus bars and terminals to be aluminum welded. (See Ultrasystems' Memorandum, Undisputed Facts, No. 10, Record p. 341.) Ultrasystems also admits that Mr.

Armstead, who is "not familiar with welding" determined or interpreted that "it was up to the bidder as to the type of coupling to be used". (Ultrasystems' Memorandum, Undisputed Fact, No. 17, p. 5, Record p. 343.) The unescapable conclusion is that Ultrasystems had all the facts necessary for it to determine that Moon Lake required the superstructure be joined by aluminum welding. But, Armstead failed to make that determination because he lacked expertise and familiarity with welding, and in particular, aluminum welding.

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