1987

Moon Lake Electric Association, Inc., v.
Ultrasystems Western Constructors, Inc., and
Industrial Indemnity Company : Brief of
Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

3. The trial court granted Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on three (3) separate, independent grounds. Plaintiff now contends that there are facts in

dispute on one of those grounds. Even if there were disputed facts as to one of the basis relied on by the court, the remaining two (2) reasons for granting the Judgment remain unchallenged, valid and independently sufficient for the Judgment.

4. The purpose of a bid bond is to protect the Plaintiff against any damages incurred if the successful bidder wrongfully withdraws its bid. Ultrasystems, acting in good faith, made an honest mistake in its bid, gave prompt notice of the error to Plaintiff, and Plaintiff incurred no loss. Plaintiff was reimbursed for all cost of building the structure and any other costs associated with Ultrasystems' error, and therefore, has suffered no damages. Equity and the law of this State do not allow forfeiture under these circumstances.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

A MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL IS NOT A PROPER METHOD TO SEEK REVERSAL OF A SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND DOES NOT EXTEND THE TIME PERIOD TO APPEAL THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Plaintiff originally appealed from the trial court's March 10, 1987 ruling denying Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial. (R. 505) Plaintiff has apparently abandoned that challenge in favor of an argument against the court's granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. Plaintiff did not timely appeal the Court's decision for Summary Judgment and its present appeal should be restricted to a question of whether the Motion for New Trial was appropriate and whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying that Motion.

Rule 58(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, provides that the trial court may grant a new trial for one of seven (7) causes listed therein. The Motion must be filed within ten (10) days after entry of the judgment and must be supported by affidavits setting forth specific facts which support one of the grounds set forth in Rule 59. Tangaro vs. Marrero, 373 P.2d 390 (Utah 1962)

The trial court signed the Summary Judgment on January 30, 1987. Plaintiff filed its Motion for a New Trial on February 7, 1987. On March 10, 1987 the court entered its ruling denying Plaintiff's Rule 59 Motion. (R. 504)

The Summary Judgment entered by the trial court on January 30, 1987 was a final, appealable order. There is no provision under either Rule 59 or Rule 56 for challenging a Summary Judgment. The language of Rule 59 in fact assumes that a Motion for New Trial follows a trial. Defendants have been unable to locate any law in Utah that would support an argument that one may file a Motion for a New Trial to challenge the granting of a Summary Judgment. The ruling by the trial court that there was no basis under Rule 59 for the granting of a Motion for a New Trial was appropriate as a matter of law. It follows that the Motion did not toll the period for Plaintiff's appeal.

In Burgers vs. Maiben, 652 P.2d 1320 (Utah 1982) the Supreme Court held that an improper Motion for a New Trial does not extend the time in which to file a Notice of Appeal. Judgment in the instant case was signed and entered on January 30, 1987. Plaintiff had 30 days from January 30, 1987 to appeal the Summary Judgment, and failed to do so. This Court therefore, has no jurisdiction to consider this appeal to the extent Plaintiff seeks a reversal of the Summary Judgment.

As to the limited issue of the propriety of the Court's denial of Plaintiff's Motion for a New Trial, there is no record basis for the present appeal.

POINT II

PLAINTIFF SHOULD NOT BE ALLOWED TO RAISE LATE "ISSUES OF FACT" AFTER INITIALLY ARGUING THAT IT WAS ENTITLED TO A SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE NO MATERIAL FACTS WERE IN DISPUTE.

Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure enables the trial court to grant judgment as a matter of law when it is apparent that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact. Rule 56(e) requires that specific facts offered as undisputed, be set forth, based on personal knowledge, admissible at trial and be material to the applicable rule of law. Norton vs. Blackham, 669 P.2d 857 (Utah 1983) and Regan Outdoor Advertising, Inc., vs. Lundgren, 692 P.2d 776 (Utah 1984) Opinions and conclusions are not sufficient to create an issue of fact. Webster vs. Sill, 675 P.2d 1170 (Utah 1983) If a party fails to file opposing affidavits the trial court can conclude that there is no genuine issue of fact. Any issues that are raised in post judgment motions or affidavits which are not timely filed are raised too late and may not be considered. Franklin Financial vs. New Empire Development Company, 659 P.2d 1040 (Utah 1983)

To assist the trial court in determining whether there are material issues of fact in dispute, Rule 2.8 of the Rules of Practice in the Seventh District Court sets forth the procedure that the parties must follow. Rule 2.8(d) requires the moving party, in his statement of points and

authorities, to set forth a concise statement of material facts to which the movant contends no genuine issue exists. Those facts must be set forth in separate numbered sentences and refer with particularity to the portion of the record upon which the moving party relies. Rule 2.8(e) requires that any opposing memorandum raising an issue of fact describe the disputed facts in separate numbered sentences, also referring with particularity to those portions of the record upon which the opposing party relies. If a material fact is not specifically controverted by the opposing party it is deemed admitted for the purpose of summary judgment.

Ultrasystems complied with Rule 2.8 in its Memorandum in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment which cited undisputed facts based on specific portions of the record or supporting affidavits. Plaintiff did not specifically dispute any of the Defendants' undisputed facts in its opposing memorandum. (R. 416) In fact, it admitted most of the stated facts, sometimes with unsupported comments, and simply stated that it could neither admit nor deny others.

Plaintiff did list, at page 7 of its Memorandum (R. 422) three facts it claimed were disputed. Defendants, however, do not dispute number 3. The other "disputed" facts were conclusory at best and referred to no support in the record. The first item Plaintiff claimed to be disputed was a claim that Ultrasystems acted in bad faith when it had

Richard Armstead prepare the bid. The affidavit of Richard Armstead, as well as the depositions of Plaintiff's representatives, Mr. Hunt and Mr. Winder, showed there was no facts to support a claim of bad faith. (R. 355, Hunt deposition page 39, Winder deposition pages 25 and 30) In its response to Defendant, Ultrasystems', Reply Memorandum, Plaintiff ultimately agreed that there was no factual issue when it admitted that the issue of bad faith was a legal question for the court.

The only other fact Plaintiff contended was in dispute was a claim that Plaintiff accepted Ultrasystems bid on September 18, 1985. (R. 422) When it was pointed out to Plaintiff that its own agent, in its own documents, showed that the acceptance occurred September 25, 1985, Plaintiff made no further claim that that was a disputed fact. (R. 355, 360, 408, 409 and Hunt deposition page 20, 27)

By its present Brief (at page 10) Plaintiff still claims that there is an issue of material fact, yet even as before the trial court, it fails to state any specific fact that is in dispute, or give any citation to the record. Plaintiff relies only upon conclusory and unsubstantiated allegations that Ultrasystems and its agent, Mr. Armstead, acted in bad faith in preparing the bid. Mr. Armstead has submitted an uncontroverted Affidavit showing that he acted in good faith and that he made an honest mistake in

preparing the bid. Furthermore, both of Plaintiff's agents, Mr. Hunt and Mr. Winder, stated in depositions that they knew of no facts that would show that Mr. Armstead or Ultrasystems acted in bad faith, and neither described any facts that contradict Mr. Armstead's Affidavit. (Hunt deposition page 29, Winder deposition pages 25 and 30)

When Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment was before the trial court, Plaintiff agreed with the Defendants' list of undisputed facts and even moved for Summary Judgment on those same facts. Plaintiff filed three separate Memoranda objecting to Defendants' Motion but furnished no affidavits challenging any of the facts relied on by the Defendants. Only after the trial court granted Defendants' Motion did Plaintiff attempt to raise "issues" by "Supplemental Affidavits" and a Motion and Memorandum for a New Trial. Only at that late date did Plaintiff claim there were any issues of fact. None of those claims, even now, are coupled with any specific facts.

The court determined that Defendants were entitled to judgment as a matter of law on the record facts. There are no facts in dispute which are material to the issues raised in the Motion for Summary Judgment. The ruling by the trial court should be sustained.

POINT III

THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD BE SUSTAINED ON ANY
ONE OF THE THREE SEPARATE AND INDEPENDENT GROUNDS
RELIED UPON BY THE TRIAL COURT.

The Defendants sought summary judgment on three grounds:

1. Defendant, Ultrasystems, made an error when it submitted its bid. That error was made in good faith, without gross negligence and, under the law of State vs. Union Construction Company, 339 P.2d 421 (Utah 1959), equity should prevent forfeiture of the bid bond. (It is on this ground alone that Plaintiff, by continued, unsupported, conclusory allegations, seeks to raise issues of fact)

2. The bond was to assure payment of any actual damages incurred by Plaintiff as a result of a withdrawal of the bid. The Plaintiff was fully reimbursed for all costs incurred as a result of Ultrasystems withdrawal of its bid and therefore suffered no damages. Petrovich vs. City of Arcadia, 222 P.2d 231 (Cal. 1950) Plaintiff has never claimed, either to the trial court or on appeal, that there are issues of fact in dispute on this question.

3. Plaintiff failed to follow the conditions precedent for the bond to take effect including furnishing evidence that the financing had been firmly committed to cover the costs of the project as required by the clear language of the bond. Plaintiff has not claimed that there

are issues of fact in dispute on this issue.

The trial court, in its ruling, found that Defendants were entitled to judgment of no cause of action on all three grounds set forth in the Motion for Summary Judgment. This Court can and should sustain the trial court's ruling on any or all of those grounds. The Plaintiff's only claim of disputed facts is on the first ground alleged in the Plaintiff's Motion. Even if this Court were to determine that there were disputed facts that were material to that issue, this Court should sustain the ruling of the trial court on either of the other two grounds.

A. Ultrasystems' Withdrawal of its Bid was a Result of an Error Made in Good Faith. Plaintiff was Given Prompt Notice of the Error and Plaintiff has Suffered No Loss as a Result of the Withdrawal of the Bid. Therefore, the Bid Bond Should Not Be Forfeited.

In State vs. Union Construction Company, 339 P.2d 421 (Utah 1959), the Defendant submitted a bid for the construction of five miles of road in Garfield County. Defendant also submitted a bid bond deposit of five (5%) percent. After the bid was accepted, the Defendant determined that it had made an error in the exact route of the roadway and refused to perform. The mistake was caused by Defendant's agent relying on old stakes which designated that the road would go through loose soil rather than a new survey which placed the road through a great amount of rock. Defendant determined that it would cost an additional

TWENTY-NINE THOUSAND DOLLARS (\$29,000.00) to construct the road on the new survey. Plaintiff was given notice of the error two (2) days after the acceptance of the bid. The Court refused to allow the forfeiture of the bond and stated,

Equity will relieve against forfeiture of a bid bond (a) if the bidder acted in good faith, and (b) without gross negligence, (c) if he was reasonably prompt in giving notice of the error in the bid to the other party, (d) if the bidder will suffer substantial detriment by forfeiture, and (e) if the other party's status has not been greatly changed, and relief from forfeiture will work no substantial hardship on him. Id. 421

See also, New York vs. John W. Rouse Construction Company, 274 N.Y.S.2d 981 (1966) (Defendant did not realize lock gates were to be fabricated in one piece); Clinton County Department of Public Works vs. American Bank and Trust Company, 268 N.W.2d 367 (Mich. 1978) (Contractor left out of his bid calculations the restoration process) and Puget Sound Painters, Inc., vs. Washington, 278 P.2d 302 (Wash. 1954) (Plaintiff misunderstood the calculations regarding the length of the bridge towers).

In the present case Ultrasystems meets all of those elements and is entitled to be relieved from forfeiture of the bond. Richard Armstead was the employee who prepared the bid for Ultrasystems. His specialty involves construction of electrical facilities of the type required by Plaintiff. He prepared the bid planning on using bolting

and coupling as the means to connect the conductors, bus bars and terminals. Only after the bid was submitted did he learn that Plaintiff wanted the connections made by aluminum welding, a more expensive method. The only reference to welding was in the materials list. There was no such reference on the drawings used to prepare the bid. (Armstead Affidavit R. 355)

Plaintiff admits that there is no evidence that Mr. Armstead did not make a mistake and that he did not act in good faith. Plaintiff rather contends that Ultrasystems acted in bad faith by having Mr. Armstead prepare the bid. No facts are cited to support that claim.

There is no question that prompt notice was given to Plaintiff. The error was determined September 24, 1985 and written notice was given to Moon Lake on September 25, 1985. Likewise, there is no question that Ultrasystems will suffer a substantial detriment if the bond is forfeited. Pursuant to law and the contract between Ultrasystems and Industrial Indemnity Company, Ultrasystems is ultimately liable for any payment on the bond. If the Court allows forfeiture on the bond as requested by Plaintiff, Ultrasystems will incur a detriment in the amount of TWENTY-ONE THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED THIRTY DOLLARS (\$21,330.00). Finally, there is no question that Plaintiff's status has not changed and it has not incurred a hardship. In fact, Plaintiff has not been

damaged at all as a result of the withdrawal of the bid because it has obtained full reimbursement for all costs incurred in building the structure, including interest and any overtime paid to its employees.

Plaintiff also argues that Ultrasystems made a mistake of law and cites Boise Junior College District vs. Mattefs Construction Company, 450 P.2d 604 (Id. 1969). In that case the Idaho Court refused to forfeit the bid bond when the facts showed the Defendant forgot to include the cost of glass in its bid. State vs. Union Construction Company and other cases using the same test did not make a distinction between mistakes of fact and mistakes of law. Even if that were the test, the mistake in this case, like that in Boise Junior College, was a mistake of fact.

Based on the undisputed facts, Ultrasystems meets the requirements set forth in State vs. Union Construction Company to avoid forfeiture, and was fully entitled to the court's Summary Judgment dismissing Plaintiff's action.

B. The Bond Submitted by Ultrasystems is for Payment of Actual Damages Incurred by Plaintiff Upon the Withdrawal of Ultrasystems Bid. Since Plaintiff Incurred No Damages, it is Entitled to No Relief on the Bond.

The liability of a surety is generally no greater than that of the principal. Turner vs. Wexler, 538 P.2d 877 (Wash. 1975), and the general rule is that a surety is liable only for payment of actual damages caused by the

principal. Butler vs. Union Pacific Insurance Company, 509 P.2d 1184 (Oregon 1973)

There are two general types of bonds. There are penal or penalty bonds and indemnity bonds. If the bond is construed to be a penalty bond, then the face amount of the bond is forfeited regardless of the amount of damages. If the bond is determined to be an indemnity bond, then the Plaintiff is entitled to recover the actual damages up to the face amount of the bond. To avoid unjust forfeitures and windfalls, most bonds are construed to be indemnity bonds.

In General Insurance Company of America vs. City of Colorado Springs, 638 P.2d 752 (Colo. 1982), the Court stated that a bond is to be interpreted according to the standards governing the construction of contracts in general and that a determination should be made from the language of the instrument itself, together with any collateral documents such as the contract. The Court further stated that the determination of the type of a bond is a question of law. See also, Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County vs. Ecology One, 245 S.E.2d 425 (Va. 1978).

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